
Agenda - Culture, Welsh Language and 
Communications Committee
Meeting Venue:
Committee Room 2 - Senedd
Meeting date: Wednesday, 30 
November 2016
Meeting time: 09.00

For further information contact:
Steve George
Committee Clerk
0300 200 6565 
SeneddCWLC@assembly.wales

Informal pre-meeting (09:00 - 09:15) 

1 Introductions, apologies, substitutions and declarations of 
interest

 

2 Inquiry into the Welsh Government's Draft Welsh Language 
Strategy: Evidence Session 4
(09.15-10.30) (Pages 1 - 15) 

Gwilym Dyfri Jones, Associate Pro Vice Chancellor, The University of Wales Trinity 
Saint David
Daniel Tiplady, Welsh-Medium Provision Manager, Cardiff Metropolitan University

Break (10:30 - 10:45) 
(10.30-10.45)

3 Inquiry into the Welsh Government's Draft Welsh Language 
Strategy: Evidence Session 5
(10:45-11:30) (Pages 16 - 25) 

Hayden Llewellyn, Chief Executive, Education Workforce Council
Angela Jardine, Chair, Education Workforce Council

------------------------ Public Document Pack ------------------------



4 Paper(s) to note
 

Letter to the Chair from the Cabinet Secretary for Economy and Infrastructure: 
Historic Wales

(Pages 26 - 28) 
Letter to the Chair from the Chair of the Children, Young People and Education 
Committee: Inquiry into the Welsh Government's new Welsh Language Strategy

(Pages 29 - 34) 

5 Motion under Standing Order 17.42 to resolve to exclude the 
public for Item 7

 

6 Private de-brief
(11:30-12:00)  



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 1

Agenda Item 2



Education Workforce Council submission to the National Assembly for Wales’ Culture, Welsh 
Language and Communications Committee  inquiry into the Welsh Government’s new Welsh 

Language Strategy

Introduction

1. The Education Workforce Council (EWC) is the independent regulator in Wales for teachers in 
maintained schools, Further Education teachers and learning support staff in both school and 
Further Education Settings.  Its remit will extend to the regulation of youth workers and people 
involved in Work Based Learning from April 2017. It seeks to raise the status of teaching by 
maintaining and promoting the highest standards of professional practice and conduct in the 
interests of teachers, pupils and the general public.

2. The EWC would firstly like to acknowledge the significant contribution made by education and 
educationalists across sectors in increasing the number of Welsh speakers.  

3. We fully support the aims of the new strategy. However, it should be recognised that the 
aspirations outlined in the strategy (doubling the 562,016 (19%) Welsh speakers1  by 2050) are 
very ambitious and will be extremely challenging for all stakeholders to achieve. Moreover, it is 
also clear that the education sector and the education workforce itself will be pivotal to the 
successful delivery of the strategy.

The Education Workforce

4. The Council holds a wealth of data in relation to the education workforce in Wales and this 
includes details of Welsh language ability of all registrant groups. This information is available 
over a number of years and can be utilised to review trends over a given period of time. This can 
be further broken down to ascertain if there are any trends in relation to age, ethnicity, gender, 
phase, for example and can be used to inform workforce planning. 

5. Annex A represents a breakdown of current statistics extrapolated from the Register of 
Education Practitioners on 31 March 2016. The data can be provided at Local Authority level, 
sector, by Local Authority and years since QTS if this would be of assistance. We can also provide 
analyses by age group and gender.

1 2011 census accessed from https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Welsh-Language/WelshSpeakers-by-LocalAuthority-
Gender-DetailedAgeGroups-2011Census 

Pack Page 16

Agenda Item 3

https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Welsh-Language/WelshSpeakers-by-LocalAuthority-Gender-DetailedAgeGroups-2011Census
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Welsh-Language/WelshSpeakers-by-LocalAuthority-Gender-DetailedAgeGroups-2011Census


Welsh Language in the Education Workforce - Key Statistics as at 31 March 2016:

There has been little change between 2012 and 2016 in the number of registered school teachers 
who consider themselves to be Welsh speakers.

There were 37,083 registered school teachers, of which, 12,348 (33.3%) indicated that they were 
Welsh speakers.

A total of 10,175 (27.4%) registered school teachers indicated that they were able to teach through 
the medium of Welsh.

6. In recent years, various strategies (for example, the Welsh language sabbatical scheme) have 
been employed to improve Welsh language ability of people in the workforce in Wales; however 
data from the register of practitioners suggests that this is having limited impact upon the 
number of Welsh speakers in the education workforce, with negligible change noted since 2007. 

7. The EWC holds data in relation to subject trained for ITET students in Wales. Current data for 
2015/2016 academic year shows that numbers undertaking ITET by subject trained Welsh – 
(secondary trained only) are low with an overall cohort of 272.

8. Whilst the EWC is able to provide comprehensive statistics for current registrant groups, it 
should be noted that at present, there is no regulation in place for non-maintained early years 
provision, therefore complicating work to map workforce Welsh language ability through phases. 

9. Learning support staff in schools and further education only joined the EWC in April 2016. As at 
31 August 2016, there were 28,839 registered school learning support staff. This is almost 
reaching parity with school teachers (35,450 at 31 August 2016).  Learning support staff 
obviously make a significant contribution throughout our maintained education sector, however, 
as a relatively new registrant group, we don’t currently have as much data on their skills and 
qualifications as we’d like. While we are taking steps to gather data on new groups of 
practitioners, we would remind government that workforce planning and / or development 
needs to take recognise and reflect that almost half of the workforce delivering education in 
schools are learning support staff.

10. From April 2017, the Council will also be in a position to collate information from new registrant 
groups i.e. Work based learning provision and youth groups. Statistical analysis will further 
support the Welsh Government and key stakeholders in workforce planning. Bringing these 
diverse groups of education professionals under one regulatory body clearly recognises the 
continuum of education and should facilitate future strategic planning and policy development.

2 This includes those who subsequently failed, withdrew, or deferred.

Pack Page 17



Further Comments

Developing the current workforce

11. The data held by the EWC suggests that there are opportunities to develop Welsh language skills 
within the existing education workforce. It is recognised that it is often difficult for practitioners 
to access professional development opportunities, since if these are within ordinary work hours, 
this requires back fill to cover absence from schools or colleges which may act as an inhibitor. If 
registrant groups are to be encouraged to undertake additional formal Welsh language courses, 
there needs to be consideration of how this can be best achieved so as not to impact negatively 
on classroom delivery. It would also be pertinent to look at how individuals could learn in a 
flexible way, including open access to quality online learning resources. Family commitments, 
work hours, disability, level of disposable income may have an impact on preferred learning 
method, in addition to personal learning styles.

12. The people of Wales are becoming increasingly digitally connected. According to Ofcom’s 
Communications Market Report (Wales) 2016, tablet device ownership in Wales stood at 67% of 
households which was higher than the UK average of 59%. Smartphone ownership is lower in 
Wales than the rest of the UK (65% v 71%) but of these, 36% of people in Wales cite their smart 
phone as the most important device for going online. The same report also highlights that 
internet users in Wales are spending 17.8 hours each week online. Although it is recognised that 
there are challenges in Wales3 with respect to availability / quality of broadband, there is an 
increasing availability of free wifi in public places meaning that more people will have the 
opportunity to access online material at their leisure should this be their preferred learning 
method. 

13. The UK Government has recently partnered with Futurelearn4 to provide online learning 
resources to enable people to learn about people, processes and public participation within 
parliament. This Massive Open Online Course (MOOC) approach facilitates interaction between a 
wide range of learners from diverse geographical locations across the globe, and enables 
interaction and learning between student and learning providers, and between students 
themselves. A similar approach could be adopted by Welsh Government to raise the profile of 
Wales within Europe and the rest of the world, both in terms of its rich history and the Welsh 
language.  This approach enables flexible, high quality, cost-free learning which can also lead to 
accreditation. As at 26 September 2016, 4,463,3745 learners were enrolled on Futurelearn 
courses. Learners in a ‘MOOC ‘environment can learn at their own pace and can access materials 
at a time suitable for them which helps to increase access.

3 http://stakeholders.ofcom.org.uk/binaries/research/infrastructure/2015/downloads/cn15-wales.pdf 
4 https://about.futurelearn.com/press-releases/uk-parliament-partners-futurelearn-open-doors-uk-political-establishment/ 16th September 2016
5 https://www.futurelearn.com/ 

Pack Page 18

http://stakeholders.ofcom.org.uk/binaries/research/infrastructure/2015/downloads/cn15-wales.pdf
https://about.futurelearn.com/press-releases/uk-parliament-partners-futurelearn-open-doors-uk-political-establishment/
https://www.futurelearn.com/


14. There are numerous websites and apps to support Welsh language learning, which are of 
variable quality; however there is an intelligence gap since we know little about the people who 
use them in terms of demographics, how effective they are, or about the motivation behind their 
desire to learn Welsh or choice of learning medium. It is not clear what these offer in terms of 
progression opportunities, and how cost influences choice of approach. A more joined-up 
approach would assist in developing a broader understanding.

15. At present there is a sabbatical scheme open to teachers who wish to improve their Welsh 
language ability, although this is currently limited to teachers and teaching assistants. Since April 
2016 there has also been a requirement for learning support assistants to register with the EWC, 
and this group represents a large proportion of overall registrant numbers. It would be prudent 
to consider how these groups may be supported in a similar way to those who meet the current 
eligibility criteria for equality of opportunity. New registrant groups such as Work Based Learning 
are due to register with the EWC from April 2017, and additionally there is an intention to 
register Youth Workers. It is important to factor in these changes when considering any 
evaluation and / or extension of the sabbatical scheme/similar initiative.

Estyn reports

16. In terms of promoting Welsh language and culture, some very good practice has been identified 
within schools and colleges via Estyn inspection reports. Examples include, a weekly award for 
using Welsh outside the classroom, supporting and encouraging peers to use Welsh such as in 
the school shop, staff being role models in terms of use of Welsh language, establishing 
partnerships with a cluster of schools to develop literacy materials, designated Welsh mornings, 
availability of a wide range of Welsh literature. Evidence of what works could be disseminated 
more widely to ensure students can benefit from best practice.

17. Recent Estyn inspection reports (2016) also highlight, however, where there is room for 
improvement, such as a need to increasing incidental use of Welsh, ensuring progressive 
language skill development through the school system, effective planning for use of Welsh, and 
creating more opportunities for pupils to use Welsh outside of Welsh lessons etc. There is also a 
suggestion that practitioners sometimes lack Welsh language ability or do not feel confident 
using it. Any future strategy needs to take cognisance of these areas for development.

18. A recent Estyn report 6 highlights that there are gaps in provision with respect to Welsh language 
within the Education Other than at School provision and made the subsequent recommendation 
for Local authorities to provide Welsh-medium EOTAS for pupils who have received their 
education in Welsh.

6 Education other than at school. Published June 2016, Estyn. Available from: https://www.estyn.gov.wales/thematic-reports/education-other-school 

Pack Page 19

https://www.estyn.gov.wales/thematic-reports/education-other-school


“Pupils who have previously been attending Welsh-medium schools have extremely limited 
opportunities to continue their learning in Welsh when they start EOTAS. When providers recruit 

staff to work with these pupils, they do not always recruit qualified teachers.”

Post compulsory education

19. Whilst attainment of formal qualifications is one measure of success outside the compulsory 
education sector, it must also be recognised that not all learners want the pressure of formalised 
study, yet may be willing to undertake leisure- based / informal / work based courses which may 
have a significant impact on increasing the number of Welsh speakers, or may be willing to learn 
by increasing opportunities for them to use /develop Welsh language skills in social situations in 
order that it is naturally occurring rather than forced.

20. Potentially, more could be done to support employers in general who have non-Welsh speaking 
staff amongst their workforce. There are opportunities to encourage learning from Welsh 
speaking peers – this would enable staff to be immersed in the language and facilitate naturally 
occurring dialogue. This may also help to shift the culture from one of compliance to willing 
participation in general.

21. Where children and young people are learning Welsh in the classroom environment, irrespective 
of their level of learning, it is important that they have opportunities to develop their language 
skills outside the school environment, therefore parents, carers and family members need to be 
engaged also, and encouraged to develop their own Welsh language skills. Estyn’s recent report7 
highlights several recommendations for Local Authorities, including working with schools to 
explain the advantages to pupils and parents of Welsh-medium education and of following 
courses through the medium of Welsh. Consideration could also be given to how best to 
promote continued engagement in Welsh language in the post-compulsory education sector.

The wider picture

22. In order to assess the progress of the proposed strategy, there needs to be a clear definition of 
what is meant by a ‘Welsh speaker’ since this is open to interpretation. This would need to be a 
consistent approach to ensure that this can be effectively benchmarked. It is also how to account 
for those individuals who possess Welsh language ability, but who move out of the area in terms 
of collating statistics, conversely there will be individuals who cross the border from England for 
example for work purposes and may develop language skills but are not resident in Wales.  We 
know for example, of large Welsh speaking communities in London and other English cities. 
Without any ongoing indicators of progress / formal targets, it will be difficult to assess what 
impact current tactics are having.

7 Local authority Welsh in Education Strategic Plans September 2016 
https://www.estyn.gov.wales/sites/default/files/documents/Local%20authority%20Welsh%20in%20Education%20Strategic%20Plans%20-%20final_0.pdf

Pack Page 20

https://www.estyn.gov.wales/sites/default/files/documents/Local%20authority%20Welsh%20in%20Education%20Strategic%20Plans%20-%20final_0.pdf


23. The education sector is already undergoing a unique period of large-scale reform which includes 
implementing the Donaldson proposals on a new curriculum, the introduction of new 
arrangements for the accreditation of initial teacher education, early years, and additional 
learning needs. It is imperative, therefore, that the implementation of the new Welsh language 
strategy is aligned with these other large scale reforms in order for it to have the greatest chance 
of success.

24. The new arrangements for accrediting initial teacher education which have recently been 
consulted upon by Welsh Government will need to reflect the aspirations in the Welsh language 
strategy, by having a strong focus on high quality Welsh language provision.  However, these 
changes will only address issues of future school teacher supply and quality. We think the time is 
right to start looking at the entry requirements and provision for other groups in the education 
workforce, for example, the PGCE (FE). 

25. There is a well-established evidence base pointing to the importance of the early years in 
successfully introducing children to second languages.  There are two factors worth noting here : 
first,  traditionally, a lot of early years provision takes place in the non-maintained sector and 
secondly, we know that a lot of Foundation Phase provision is delivered by learning support 
workers. We urge policy makers to consider the diversity within education when developing and 
implementing policy. It’s no longer sufficient to target qualifications, or professional 
development initiatives at school teachers alone.

26. It will be necessary to consider that any plans to devolve teachers’ pay and conditions is likely to 
have an impact upon the workforce. 

27. It is not yet clear how ‘Brexit’ will impact upon the Welsh education sector, however any future 
planning should consider Welsh language provision in the wider skills and work arena to ensure 
that students in Wales have the appropriate skills and abilities to progress and flourish in a 
changing environment. 

28. Beyond education, there are larger social, economic, and transport issues to be addressed if 
Welsh Government wants to reach their target. For example, enabling and encouraging Welsh 
speakers to stay and live and work in Wales, requires a thriving economy offering well paid 
employment. Welsh Government might also want to look at ways of keeping Welsh speaking 
regions sustainable by ensuring that these usually rural areas have sufficient quality job 
opportunities.

The EWC’s knowledge and reach

Pack Page 21



29. The EWC has access to a vast resource of data relating to the education workforce in Wales 
which could be further exploited to support Welsh Government to undertake research and more 
targeted survey / qualitative work of registrant groups to develop a broader understanding of 
the less tangible issues within education sector to support the Welsh Government.

30. In November 2016, we launched the first ever education workforce survey on behalf of the 
Welsh Government. Separate surveys have been developed for each of the EWC’s registration 
categories, as well as a bespoke survey for supply teachers and support staff. The surveys include 
questions on Welsh language skills. We expect results to be published early in 2017.

31. Under the Education (Wales) Act 2014, the EWC can undertake recruitment activities on behalf 
of the Welsh Government.  Historically, workforce planning has only considered school teachers 
and headteachers.  Now that the EWC registers learning support staff and further education 
lecturers (and from April 2017, youth workers and  work based learning practitioners), and as the 
demand for learning support staff grows, we would urge policy makers to take into account the 
composition of the entire workforce when thinking about recruitment and retention issues.

32. As the professional body for the workforce in Wales, we are able to communicate directly with 
registered school teachers, further education lecturers and learning support staff in both schools 
and FE colleges.

Pack Page 22



Annex A: Welsh language data - registered school teachers

Summary of key findings

 33% of registered school teachers are Welsh speakers in comparison to 27% who are able to 
teach through the medium of Welsh, which exceeds the percentage of Welsh speakers living in 
Wales (23%); (Welsh Government Welsh Language Use Survey 2013/14);

 On average there is approximately 7% difference between the percentage of Welsh speakers and 
the proportion of teachers able to teach through the medium of Welsh across the nursery, 
primary, middle and secondary school phases.  The highest percentage difference is 7% in the 
primary phase.  This may demonstrate an issue with confidence in Welsh language 
ability/fluency and the choice or need to use the language ability in a work environment.  
Possible more can be done to support Welsh speakers to train and feel confident to teach 
through the medium of Welsh or to encourage non Welsh speakers to learn the language;

 There is a lower proportion of Welsh speakers (23%) and school teachers able to teach through 
the medium of Welsh (17%) in the nursery phase.  A smaller proportion of Welsh medium 
teachers in early year’s education may impact on the demand for welsh medium education 
across the other phases, which is counter-intuitive to the direction of Welsh Government policy;

 As expected there are regional disparities in the proportion of teachers able to teach thought the 
medium of Welsh the lowest in the South East region of Wales (Blaenau Gwent 7%, Newport 8%, 
Monmouthshire 9%) in comparison to the highest in North and West Wales ( Gwynedd 93%, Isle 
of Anglesey 90%, Ceredigion 80%) ;

 The percentage of Welsh speakers has decreased with years since QTS; it was at its highest 
amongst the 1 to 10 years group across Wales in both ability to speak Welsh and teach through 
the medium of Welsh in the primary and secondary phases.

Introduction

The Council records Welsh language data for those teachers registered with the Education Workforce 
Council.  
When making an application for registration or amending a registered teacher record, teachers are 
advised to consider the following criteria when answering the relevant questions in relation to their 
Welsh language ability:-

Pack Page 23



Welsh speaker: - answer “Yes” if they consider themselves to be fluent or fairly fluent in the Welsh 
language.

Able to teach through the medium of Welsh: - answer “Yes” if they were trained to teach, currently 
teach or have ever taught pupils through the medium of Welsh or feel confident to do so.

If the information is not provided by the registered teacher do not provide this information and the 
relevant fields in their record on the Register of Education Practitioners are marked as “Unknown”.

Notes:
The data was extracted from the Register of Education Practitioners on the 31March 2016.
All data provided relates to “registered school teachers” and the numbers are displayed as “actuals” 
rather than “full-time equivalents”.

The number of registered school teachers is “real time” and can go up or down, depending on new 
registrations and de-registrations.

All figures are based on registrants with a primary registration category of ‘school teacher’. 

The EWC is able to provide further analyses of this data, for example, by age, gender and local authority.

Table 1: The number of school teachers registered with the EWC on the 31 March 2016 by Welsh 
language

Welsh speaker Able to teach though 
the medium of Welsh

Number 
of 

teachers

Percentage 
(%)

Number 
of 

teachers

Percentage 
(%)

Yes 12,348 33.3 10,175 27.4
No 22,441 60.5 24,538 66.2
Unknown 2,294 6.2 2,370 6.4
Total 37,083 100% 37,083 100%

Pack Page 24



Table 2: The number of newly qualified school teachers registered with the EWC on the 31 March 2016 
by Welsh language

Welsh speaker Able to teach though 
the medium of Welsh

Number 
of 

teachers

Percentage 
(%)

Number 
of 

teachers

Percentage 
(%)

Yes 438 34.6 352 27.8
No 805 63.6 887 70.1
Unknown 23 1.8 27 2.1
Total 1,266 100% 1,266 100%

Table 3: The number of headteachers registered with the EWC on 31March 2016 by Welsh language

Welsh speaker Able to teach though 
the medium of Welsh

Number 
of 

teachers

Percentage 
(%)

Number 
of 

teachers

Percentage 
(%)

Yes 611 41.4 532 36.1
No 703 47.7 783 53.1
Unknown 160 10.9 159 10.8
Total 1,474 100% 1,474 100%

Pack Page 25



Ken Skates AC/AM 
Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros yr Economi a’r Seilwaith 
Cabinet Secretary for Economy and Infrastructure 
 

 

 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 

Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1NA 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre:  
0300 0604400 

Gohebiaeth.Ken.Skates@llyw.cymru 

Correspondence.Ken.Skates@gov.wales 
 

Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd 

gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  

 
We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding 

in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.   

Eich cyf/Your ref MA-P/KS/7328/16 
Ein cyf/Our ref  
 
 
Bethan Jenkins AM 
Chair  
Culture, Welsh language and Communications Committee 
 

08 November 2016   
 
 

 
Dear Bethan 
 
 
Thank you for your letter of 19 October regarding Historic Wales. 
 
I have not made a decision on the constitution of Historic Wales. The PwC report, Investing 
in the Future to Protect the Past, sets out four main options for consideration. Included as 
part of these options is the possibility of Cadw becoming a Welsh Government Sponsored 
Body or an Executive Agency.  
 
As requested, I attach a copy of the letter that I sent to the President of Amgueddfa Cymru, 
Elisabeth Elias. 
 
 
Yours sincerely  

 
 
 
 
 

 
Ken Skates AC/AM 
Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros yr Economi a’r Seilwaith 
Cabinet Secretary for Economy and Infrastructure 
 
 
 
 
 

Pack Page 26

Agenda Item 4.1

mailto:Gohebiaeth.Ken.Skates@llyw.cymru
mailto:Correspondence.Ken.Skates@gov.wales


Ken Skates ACt AM 
Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros yr Economi a'r Seilwaith 
Cabinet Secretary for Economy and Infrastructure 

Ein cyf/Our ref KS/06718/16 

Elisabeth Elias 
President 
Amgueddfa Cymru 

David.Anderson@museumwales.ac.uk 

Dear Elisabeth, 

Thank you for your letter of 30 September. 

Llywodraeth Cymru 
Welsh Government 

14- October 2016 

Our manifesto set out the commitment to create 'Historic Wales', bringing together 
many of the commercial functions of the Welsh Government's Historic Environment 
Service, Cadw, and Amgueddfa Cymru. I did not, therefore, specifically mention the 
Royal Commission and National Library in my announcement. Publishing the PwC 
report and establishing the steering group are the first steps in realising this vision. 

I have not made any decisions on the constitution, scope or function of Historic Wales. 
Yet, as I recently stated in the Senedd, I do not believe that the status quo is an 
option. Change is necessary if our national institutions are to have a prosperous and 
sustainable future. 

Amgueddfa Cymru was part of the task and finish group that considered the PwC 
report and is a member of the current steering group. It will have every opportunity to 
contribute to the advice that I have requested. I shall leave the Chair to decide on the 
best way for the steering group to take this work forward. 

With regard to your questions on the governance, structure and legal status of Historic 
Wales, I do not wish to pre-empt the advice of the steering group, which, I am sure, 
will thoroughly consider these matters. 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 
Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF991NA 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre: 
0300 0604400 

Gohebiaeth. Ken. Skates@llyw.cymru 
Correspondence .Ken .Skates@gov.wales 

Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg. Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd 
gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi. 

We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh. Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding 
in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding. 

Pack Page 27



This will be a complex and challenging undertaking. I am convinced, however, that it is 
essential if we are to continue to act as effective custodians of our outstanding 
heritage and provide an outstanding visitor experience. 

I look forward to working constructively with Amgueddfa Cymru to achieve those aims. 

Yours sincerely, 

Ken Skates AC/AM 
Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros yr Economi a'r Seilwaith 
Cabinet Secretary for Economy and Infrastructure 

Pack Page 28



 

 

Bethan Jenkins AM 

Chair of the Culture, Welsh Language and 
Communications Committee  

 

 

18 November 2016 

 

 

 

Dear Bethan  

I understand that the Culture, Welsh Language and Communications Committee is 

currently undertaking an inquiry into the Welsh Government’s Welsh Language 

Strategy. 

 

As a member of the previous Assembly’s Children, Young People and Education 

Committee you will be aware that the Committee undertook an inquiry into Welsh 

in Education Strategic Plans.  

 

The Committee recently wrote to the Minister for Lifelong Learning and Welsh 

Language to request an update on progress since the publication of the report of 

that inquiry.  The Minister’s response is attached and I hope that it will prove 

useful to your Committee’s work.  

 

Yours Sincerely  

 

Lynne Neagle AC / AM 

Cadeirydd / Chair 

 

Pack Page 29

Agenda Item 4.2



Alun Davies AC/AM 
Gweinidog y Gymraeg a Dysgu Gydol Oes 
Minister for Lifelong Learning and Welsh Language 
 

 

 

Ein cyf/Our ref: MA(P)/ARD/7343/16 
 
 
 
Lynne Neagle AM  
Children, Young People and Education Committee 
National Assembly for Wales 
Cardiff Bay 
Cardiff 
CF99 1NA 

 
 

9 November 2016  
 

 
 
Dear Lynne, 
 
Thank you for your correspondence requesting:- 
 

 an update on progress following the publication of the previous Children, Young 
People and Education Committee’s report on the Welsh in Education Strategic Plans 
(WESP’s). 

 an update regarding the evaluation of the Welsh-medium Education Strategy 
(WMES), and 

 a response to the recommendations made to Welsh Government following the Estyn 
review of Welsh in Education Strategic Plans published in September 2016. 

 
Our response:- 
 
Welsh in Education Strategic Plans – update 
 
You will know that following the National Assembly for Wales’ Children, Young People and 
Education’s Committee into the Welsh in Education Strategic Plans, there were 17 
recommendations.  Six were accepted in full by Welsh Government, seven accepted in 
principle and four were rejected.   
 
The following provides an overview of actions taken over the last six months to progress 
those recommendations that were either accepted in full or in principle.   
 
Recommendation 1. Welsh Government must ensure that WMES targets are reflected in 
WESPs and be more robust in its approval of WESPs to ensure they reflect Welsh 
Government’s ambitions. 
 
The WMES targets are the main focus in the revised planning guidance and the template for 
completion by Local Authorities in the 2017-2020 planning round.  Local Authorities must 
state where they are now in terms of the national targets as well as noting their targets for 
the forthcoming three years.  Any target that is not considered to be sufficiently robust or 

Pack Page 30



stretching will be challenged.  It must be noted that not all Local Authorities will be able to 
attain the national targets as the WMES targets for 2015 and 2020 represent milestones 
that may be aimed for on an all-Wales basis.  
 
Recommendation 2. Welsh Government must clarify how it intends to work in partnership 
with local authorities to deliver its Welsh-medium Education Strategy.  
 
Welsh Government officials met with all Local Authorities on a consortia basis to seek their 
views about the revised WESP template and guidance.  Positive discussions were had  to 
establish how we would work collaboratively and to work in in partnership to explore 
opportunities for Welsh-medium education.  Where possible, those views about how best to 
plan were fed through into the new planning documents.  Since these meetings, Welsh 
Government officials have now increased the dialogue with Local Authorities through the 
provision of  support and guidance.    
  
Welsh Government officials have been attending some of the Welsh-medium education 
forums.  This allows both parties to discuss how best to take forward the messages 
regarding the expansion and promotion of Welsh-medium education and to maximise 
collaboration and the sharing of information.       
 
Recommendation 3. The Minister should clarify how the recommendations of the 
Donaldson review will address the variance in the linguistic outcomes of different types of 
provision.  
 
Local Authorities seeking to move schools along the linguistic continuum increasing 
gradually the extent to which Welsh is used as a medium of instruction will need statutory 
proposals. While it is implicit in the Welsh-medium Education Strategy that such 
developments are to be welcomed in the context of WESPs, the real impetus for change 
must start at the local level including governors, parents, teachers and pupils. Discussion as 
to how Local Authorities can manage any plans within a planning context as well as an 
education opportunity is ongoing and will also need to involve Estyn.  
 
Recommendation 4. The Minster should review and publish new guidance on definitions of 
provision and school’s linguistic categorisation.  
 
Work on this recommendation will commence in the New Year. 
  
Recommendation 8. The Welsh Government should be clearer with local authorities about 
its expectations in relation to the promotion of growth of Welsh-medium education so that all 
local authorities buy into the Welsh Government’s ambitions.  
 
We are clear.  Our draft strategy states that we aim to have a million Welsh speakers in 
Wales by 2050.  We can not do this in isolation and we need to work in partnership with 
Local Authorities and other statutory and non statutory organisations to achieve this.   This 
is why the planning of Welsh-medium education is so critical and  that collaboration forms 
the core of our work.  
   
Within the revised guidance for the 2017-2020 Welsh in Education Strategic Plans,  the 
focus and emphasis within Outcome 1 (increasing the number of seven year olds assessed 
through the medium of Welsh) places emphasis on school organisation.  This includes 
building new schools as well as ensuring there’s a robust approach to measuring the 
demand for Welsh-medium education to evidence plans for investment. Ensuring sufficient 
child care provision must also link into any plans for expansion as well as ensuring a clear, 
high quality continuum of Welsh-medium provision at all levels.   
  

Pack Page 31



Recommendation 9. Before the next iteration of WESPs, Welsh Government should review 
the processes for assessing demand to ensure they are more robust. Processes should 
include provision to consult with children and young people, in accordance with the UNCRC.  
 
This work is ongoing and will be explored before the next iteration of the WESP’s.   
 
Recommendation 10. Welsh Government should develop and publish a strategy relating to 
the promotion and awareness of Welsh-medium education at a national and local level. The 
strategy should include tools that can be used and adapted by local authorities and schools.  
 
This will be done through the WESP’s as well as through providing guidance on measuring 
the demand for Welsh-medium education and guidance on the Welsh Education Forums.  
This guidance will form a suite of information and will also include examples of good 
practise currently used by Local Authorities so lessons may be shared and learnt. 
 
Recommendation 11. Welsh Government should work with Local Government and 
stakeholders to strengthen the role of fora so that they are more effective. Fora should be 
open, representative and should report annually. This was accepted in principle.  
 
Regional Welsh Government officials now attends virtually all fora meetings so that national, 
regional and local policy developments and new thinking may be explored more fully and 
shared at an early stage.  Guidance/information about fora will be issued to all Local 
Authorities with an example of a draft constitution and a suggested membership (taking into 
account local variances such as economic developments)  so that a consistency of 
approach may be adopted and implemented yet allowing for local/regional differences.   
 
Recommendation 12. Welsh Government should clarify the role of regional consortia in 
relation to WESPs.  
 
We have referred to the role of consortia in the revised guidance and according to the Local 
Authorities we have spoken to; there is no one size fits all here.  In the north, Outcomes 4 
and 5 will be explored at a regional level specifically within the context of Siarter Iaith, 
though a wholesale regional plan may not be available within this planning cycle. 
 
Recommendation 13. The Minister should use the powers available to him under existing 
legislation to intervene where local authorities are failing to deliver their WESPs.  
 
The School Standards and Organisation (Wales) Act 2013 states that Welsh Ministers must 
exercise the following in relation to Welsh in Education Strategic Plans, they have powers 
to: 

 approve the Plan as submitted; 
 approve with modifications; or  
 to reject the Plan and prepare another one.  

 
The Minister for the Welsh Language and Lifelong Learning has made it quite clear both in 
the launch of the draft strategy in the Eisteddfod and in his letter to Local Authorities with 
the new guidance that he ‘would reject any plan that is not sufficiently ambitious and does 
not demonstrate the level of aspiration needed to ensure growth in Welsh-medium 
education.    
 
Recommendation 15. Welsh Government to outline how it intends to ensure that transport 
arrangements for Welsh-medium and bilingual education support the delivery of its WMES 
targets.  This was accepted in principle.  
 

Pack Page 32



Work is ongoing with colleagues across Welsh Government to take this complex work 
forward.  We will report when the information becomes available.   
 
Recommendation 16. Welsh Government to outline how it will address Welsh-medium 
provision for pupils with additional learning needs and whether the forthcoming Additional 
Learning Needs Bill would be an appropriate vehicle to do so.  
 
This work is being taken forward with colleagues working on the Additional Learning Needs 
Bill. 
 
Welsh-medium Education Strategy April 2010 - update  
  
The Welsh-medium Education Strategy was published in April 2010. Welsh Government 
acknowledged that the vision for continued growth of Welsh-medium education and training 
in all sectors and age ranges in long term agenda, and published a five-year action plan for 
the elements that could be acted upon quickly. 
  
The aim of the evaluation of the Welsh-medium Education Strategy was to measure the 
effectiveness and impact of the strategy during the initial five-year period of implementation.  
This took into account the extent to which it realised the aims, objectives and expected 
outcomes. The report, published on 10 March 2016 includes 21 recommendations.  
  
To coincide with the evaluation report, we published a policy document 
(http://gov.wales/docs/dcells/publications/160309-next-steps-en-v2.pdf) that will strengthen 
Welsh Government commitment and vision for continued growth of Welsh-medium 
education. The document also outlines the priorities and actions for years 2016-17 in 
response to the recommendations of the evaluation, the report of the previous Children, 
Young People’s and Education Committee and other reports.  
  
The Government is currently consulting on a draft Welsh language strategy with the aim of 
having a million speakers by 2050. The education system has an important role to play in 
achieving this goal and our objectives in relation to the future development of Welsh-
medium education will be included in the final strategy to be published next spring.  
 
Estyn – Local authority Welsh in Education Strategic Plans September 2016 - update 
 
There were six recommendations for Local Authorities and three recommendations for 
Welsh Government.   

Those for Welsh Government include:  
 
R1 ensure that the targets agreed in the WESPs reflect the aspirations in their Welsh-

medium education strategy; 

R2 ensure that all local authorities place enough strategic importance on delivering the 
targets within the WESPs; and 

R3 monitor the implementation of the WESPs rigorously.   

This is a reflective look at Welsh language planning as Welsh Government’s targets for 
Welsh language education need revising in light of the target of a million Welsh speakers by 
2050.  There is a dedicated within Welsh Government that supports Local Authorities to 
develop their Welsh-medium provision, and, where necessary, will provide challenge should 
Local Authorities not demonstrate the level of ambition that I now expect.    
 

Pack Page 33



Attendance by Welsh Government officials at Welsh Language Forums will ensure a 
detailed knowledge of plans for capital investment, changes to linguistic categories as well 
as identifying areas that need the greatest support with their plans for Welsh-medium 
education.  
  
Work has commenced to look at the regulations that underpin the WESP’s and to further 
strengthen where required and to make changes were appropriate. 
 
According to Estyn, it seems that the Welsh in Education Strategic Plans (WESPs) are 
providing a useful framework for local authorities to plan their Welsh-medium education 
provision. We know that the WESPs have the potential to support the delivery of Welsh 
Government’s Welsh-medium education strategy; however, there is work to be done to 
challenge weak plans and unambitious targets.  Our work will continue on strengthening our 
partnership working with Local Authorities both locally and regionally so we may maximise 
opportunities that collaboration and sharing ideas may bring.    
 
Yours sincerely 
 

 
 
Alun Davies AC/AM 
Gweinidog y Gymraeg a Dysgu Gydol Oes 
Minister for Lifelong Learning and Welsh Language 
 

Pack Page 34


	Agenda
	2 Inquiry into the Welsh Government's Draft Welsh Language Strategy: Evidence Session 4
	3 Inquiry into the Welsh Government's Draft Welsh Language Strategy: Evidence Session 5
	4.1 Letter to the Chair from the Cabinet Secretary for Economy and Infrastructure: Historic Wales
	4.2 Letter to the Chair from the Chair of the Children, Young People and Education Committee: Inquiry into the Welsh Government's new Welsh Language Strategy

